
 
 

 

 
 
 

April 26, 2013 
 
EA-13-053 
 
Ms. Holly Mulherin, President 
West Michigan Testing   
815 E. Ludington Ave. 
Ludington, MI  49431 
 
SUBJECT: NRC ROUTINE INSPECTION REPORT NO. 03037434/2013001(DNMS) AND 

NOTICE OF VIOLATION – WEST MICHIGAN TESTING 
 
Dear Ms. Mulherin:  
 
On January 16, 2013, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) conducted a routine 
inspection of your facility located in Ludington, MI, with continuing in-office review through 
March 27, 2013.  The purpose of this inspection was to review activities performed under your 
NRC license to ensure that activities were being performed in accordance with NRC 
requirements.  The in-office review included a review of records related to your possession of 
Seaman portable nuclear gauges. 
 
During this inspection, the NRC staff examined activities conducted under your license as they 
relate to public health and safety, compliance with the Commission’s rules and regulations, and 
compliance with the conditions of your license.  Within these areas, the inspection consisted of 
selected examination of procedures and representative records, observations of activities, and 
interviews with personnel. 
 
Based on the results of this inspection, three apparent violations were identified and are being 
considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.  
The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC’s website at http://www.nrc.gov/about-
nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.  The apparent violations involved:  (1) the failure to 
confine your possession and use of byproduct materials to the locations and purposes 
authorized by the license as required by Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 
30.3(c)(2) and 30.34(c); (2) the failure to use a minimum of two independent physical controls 
that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from unauthorized removal, whenever 
portable gauges are not under the control and constant surveillance of the licensee as required 
by 10 CFR 30.34(i); and (3) the failure to conduct operations so that the dose rate in any 
unrestricted area does not exceed the limits specified in 10 CFR 20.1301(a)(2). 
 
Since the NRC has not made a final determination in this matter, no Notice of Violation is being 
issued for these inspection findings at this time.  The circumstances surrounding these apparent 
violations, the significance of the issues, and the need for lasting and effective corrective actions 
were discussed with you at the inspection exit meeting on April 1, 2013.  
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Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to 
either:  (1) respond to the apparent violations addressed in this inspection report within 30 days 
of the date of this letter; or (2) request a Predecisional Enforcement Conference (PEC).  If a 
PEC is held it will be open for public observation and the NRC will issue a press release to 
announce the time and date of the conference.  Please contact Tamara Bloomer at 
630-829-9627 within ten days of the date of this letter to notify the NRC of your intended 
response. 
 
If you choose to provide a written response, it should be clearly marked as “Response to the 
Apparent Violations in Inspection Report No. 03037434/2013001(DNMS); EA-13-053,” and 
should include, for the apparent violations:  (1) the reason for the apparent violations, or, if 
contested, the basis for disputing the apparent violations; (2) the corrective steps that have 
been taken and the results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken to avoid further 
violations; and (4) the date when full compliance will be achieved.  Your response may 
reference or include previous docketed correspondence, if the correspondence adequately 
addresses the required response.  If an adequate response is not received within the time 
specified or an extension of time has not been granted by the NRC, the NRC will proceed with 
its enforcement decision or schedule a PEC.  
  
If you choose to request a PEC, the conference will afford you the opportunity to provide your 
perspective on the apparent violations and any other information that you believe the NRC 
should take into consideration before making an enforcement decision.  The topics discussed 
during the conference may include the following: information to determine whether a violation 
occurred, information to determine the significance of a violation, information related to the 
identification of a violation, and information related to any corrective actions taken or planned to 
be taken.   
 
As your facility has not been the subject of escalated enforcement actions within the last two 
years or two inspections, a civil penalty may not be warranted in accordance with 
Section 2.3.4 of the Enforcement Policy.  In addition, based upon NRC’s understanding of the 
facts and your corrective actions, it may not be necessary to conduct a pre-decisional 
enforcement conference (PEC) in order to enable the NRC to make a final enforcement 
decision.  However, our final decision will be based on your confirming on the license docket 
that the corrective actions previously described to the staff have been or are being taken. 
 
In presenting your corrective actions, you should be aware that the promptness and 
comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in assessing any civil penalty for the 
apparent violations.  In addition, please be advised that the number and characterization of the 
apparent violations described in the enclosed inspection report may change as a result of 
further NRC review.  You will be advised by separate correspondence of the results of our 
deliberations on this matter. 
 
In addition, the NRC has determined that one Severity Level (SL) IV violation of NRC 
requirements occurred.  This SL IV violation was characterized in accordance with the NRC 
Enforcement Policy, and concerned the failure to periodically review the radiation protection 
program content and implementation as required by 10 CFR 20.1101.  The NRC is citing this 
SL IV violation in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice) because an inspector identified the 
violation. 
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You are required to respond to this letter to address the violation in the enclosed Notice and 
should follow the instructions specified in the Notice when preparing your response.  The NRC 
will use your response, in part, to determine whether further enforcement action is necessary to 
ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.  In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the 
NRC’s “Rules of Practice,” a copy of this letter and your response, will be available electronically 
for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC's Agencywide 
Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC website at 
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  To the extent possible, your response should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made 
available to the public without redaction.   
 
Please feel free to contact Mr. Ryan Craffey of my staff if you have any questions concerning 
this inspection.  You can reach Mr. Craffey at 630-829-9655. 
 

Sincerely, 
       

/RA by Jared K. Heck Acting For/ 
 
 
Anne Boland, Director 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 

 
Docket No.  030-37434 
License No.  21-26281-02 
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION 
 
West Michigan Testing  Docket No. 030-37434 
Ludington, MI License No. 21-26281-02 
 
During a U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) inspection conducted on  
January 16, 2013, with continuing in-office review through March 27, 2013, one violation of NRC 
requirements was identified.  In accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, the violation is 
listed below:  
 

Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 20.1101(c) requires that the licensee 
shall periodically (at least annually) review the radiation protection program content and 
implementation. 
 
Contrary to the above, from April 19, 2008, to January 16, 2013, the licensee failed to 
periodically (at least annually) review the radiation protection program content and 
implementation.  Specifically, the licensee had not reviewed the content and 
implementation of its radiation protection program, since receiving its license from the 
NRC on April 19, 2007. 
 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.3). 

 
Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, West Michigan Testing is hereby required to submit 
a written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN: 
Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001, with a copy to the Regional 
Administrator, Region III, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this Notice of 
Violation (Notice).  This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation” and 
should include:  (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, the basis for disputing the 
violation or severity level; (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the results 
achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken; and (4) the date when full compliance will 
be achieved.  Your response may reference or include previously docketed correspondence, if 
the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.  If an adequate reply is not 
received within the time specified in this Notice, an order or a Demand for Information may be 
issued as to why the license should not be modified, suspended, or revoked, or why such other 
action as may be proper should not be taken.  Where good cause is shown, consideration will 
be given to extending the response time. 
 
If you contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your response, with 
the basis for your denial, to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001. 
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within two working 
days of receipt.  
 
Dated this 26th day of April 2013.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

West Michigan Testing 
NRC Inspection Report 03037434/2013001(DNMS) 

 
This was a routine inspection of West Michigan Testing’s licensed activities involving the use of 
byproduct material for measuring physical properties of materials with portable nuclear gauging 
devices.  The licensee is an engineering, surveying, and environmental science company 
located in Ludington, MI.  The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) License  
No. 21-26281-02 authorizes West Michigan Testing to use one Troxler Model 3430 portable 
density gauge for measuring physical properties of construction materials.   
 
As a result of the inspection, the NRC identified three apparent violations for failure 
to:  (1) confine the possession and use of byproduct materials to the locations and purposes 
authorized by the license; (2) secure portable gauges with a minimum of two independent 
physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from unauthorized 
removal, whenever portable gauges are not under the control and constant surveillance of the 
licensee; and (3) conduct operations so that the dose in any unrestricted area from external 
sources does not exceed 0.002 rem in any one hour.   
 
The licensee’s corrective actions included:  (1) submitting a license amendment request to add 
authorization for four Seaman portable nuclear gauges; (2) adding a second lock to the storage 
shed so as to secure the Seaman gauges with two independent physical controls; and 
(3) relocating the gauges so as to reduce the dose rate external to the shed by means of added 
distance.  
 
In addition, the NRC identified a violation of requirements for failure to periodically review the 
radiation protection program content and implementation.  As corrective action, the licensee 
stated that it planned to conduct an audit using the example audit program in NUREG-1556, 
Volume 1 prior to the start of the 2013  construction season. 
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REPORT DETAILS 
 
1 Program Overview 
 

West Michigan Testing is authorized under NRC Materials License Number 21-26281-02 
to use licensed byproduct material for measuring physical properties of materials with 
portable gauging devices.  The licensee is authorized to use or store one Cesium-137 
and one Americium-241 sealed source in a Troxler 3430 portable gauge at its Ludington 
office, and is authorized to use this device anywhere in the United States in areas of 
NRC jurisdiction.  The licensee uses the gauge for construction engineering projects 
throughout the state of Michigan.  There are two authorized users at West Michigan 
Testing: the Radiation Safety Officer (RSO), and another Senior Technician. 
 
The licensee was last inspected by the NRC during an initial inspection on 
April 1, 2008.  No violations of NRC requirements were identified at that time. 

 
2 Radiation Protection Program 
 
2.1 Inspection Scope 

 
The inspectors reviewed the licensee’s radiation protection program through interviews 
with the RSO, authorized user, and president of the company, and through the 
examination of records for audits; package receipt and transfer, leak tests and 
dosimetry. 
 

2.2 Observations and Findings 
 

A. Possession of Byproduct Material 
 
The inspectors found that in addition to one Troxler portable gauge, the licensee 
also possessed four Seaman portable nuclear gauges, each nominally containing 
4.5 mCi of Radium-226.   
 
On December 15, 2008, West Michigan Testing received a Notice from the State of 
Michigan notifying them that the registered radioactive material would no longer be 
subject to the State’s requirements as of August 7, 2009.  Both the president and the 
RSO acknowledged receipt of the Notice; however, both individuals indicated that 
they had not fully understood the intent of the Notice.  The authorized user, who had 
first shown the inspectors the Seaman gauges, was not aware of the notice and was 
still under the impression that the gauges were registered under the State of 
Michigan.  As a result, no action had been taken to add these Radium sources to 
West Michigan Testing’s existing NRC license. 
 
The president indicated to the inspectors that the company had not planned to use 
the Seaman gauges after its principal client, the Michigan Department of 
Transportation (MDOT), gave notice in 2006 that it would no longer allow the use of 
Radium gauges on projects, favoring instead the use of Troxler gauges containing 
Cesium and Americium.  The notice prompted West Michigan Testing to apply for an 
NRC license to possess and use one Troxler gauge.  The NRC license was issued 
on April 19, 2007, and remains in effect as originally issued. 
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When the inspectors interviewed the authorized user about the Seaman gauges, he 
indicated that he had used one of the four Seaman gauges to perform density 
measurements at a non-MDOT project on July 3 and 5, 2012.  He said that he chose 
to use the one functional Seaman gauge because the company’s Troxler gauge was 
in use at the time.   
 
Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 30.3(c)(2) requires, in part, that 
that licensees who possess and use accelerator-produced radioactive material or 
discrete sources of Radium-226 for which a license amendment is required to 
authorize the activities in 10 CFR 30.3(a) may continue to use these materials for 
uses permitted under this part until the date of the NRC’s final licensing 
determination provided the person submits an amendment application within 
six months from the waiver expiration date of August 7, 2009, or within six months 
from the date of an earlier termination of the waiver as noticed by the NRC, 
whichever date is earlier.   
 
Title 10 CFR 30.34(c) requires, in part, that each licensee confine his possession 
and use of byproduct materials to the locations and purposes authorized by the 
license.  Condition 6 of License Number 21-26281-02 limits the possession of 
byproduct materials to Cesium-137 and Americium-241.   
 
The licensee’s failure to seek a license amendment within six months from the 
waiver expiration date, and the licensee’s subsequent failure to confine the 
possession and use of byproduct materials to those listed on the license is an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3(c)(2) and 30.34(c). 
 
The inspectors determined that the root cause of this apparent violation was the 
licensee’s failure to recognize that the Seaman gauges containing Radium-226 were 
subject to NRC rules and requirements, including 10 CFR 30.3(c)(2) and 30.34(c).   
 
The licensee implemented and planned corrective actions to prevent a similar 
violation.  On January 16, 2013, the licensee indicated that it would submit a license 
amendment to request authorization to possess a total of 18 mCi of Radium-226 in 
four Seaman portable gauges.  The NRC received the request on February 19, 2013.   

 
B. Audits 

 
The inspectors attempted to review documentation of the licensee’s period program 
audits, but were unable to find any.  When asked about the lack of documentation, 
the RSO indicated that he had never actually performed an audit of West Michigan 
Testing’s radiation safety program. 
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1101(c) requires that licensees periodically (at least annually) review 
the radiation protection program content and implementation.  The failure to review 
the program at least annually is a violation of CFR 20.1101(c). 
 
The inspectors determined that the root cause of this violation was the licensee’s 
incomplete understanding of NRC rules and requirements.  
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The licensee planned corrective actions to prevent a similar violation.  On January 
16, 2013, the licensee stated that it planned to conduct an audit using the model 
audit procedure in NUREG-1556 Volume 1:  “Program-Specific Guidance about 
Portable Gauge Licensees,” prior to the start of the 2013 construction season. 

 
C. Review of Records 

 
The licensee demonstrated its methods of transportation for its portable gauges.  
The inspectors found that the licensee used adequate shipping papers and stored 
them in the proper location during transport.  The inspectors also observed adequate 
blocking and bracing of the Troxler gauge case, which was in good condition with all 
required labeling intact.   
 
The licensee typically performed removable contamination wipes of the Troxler 
gauge in August or September of each calendar year.  In addition, the licensee leak 
tested the gauge again in February or March of each year when the device was 
transferred – in accordance with Department of Transportation (DOT) requirements – 
to an authorized recipient for calibration.  The inspectors could not find a record 
documenting the result of the licensee’s most recent leak test in February 2012, nor 
was there record readily available of a leak test conducted by the licensee in the fall 
of 2012, either.  However, the vendor did confirm via telephone that the leak tests 
had been done, and that the results were below the threshold of 0.005 microcuries.   
 
The inspectors observed that staff had appropriate whole-body dosimetry, and were 
knowledgeable about how to wear it and where to store it when not in use.  The 
inspectors reviewed the licensee’s dosimetry records and found that authorized user 
exposures were all below regulatory limits. 

 
2.3 Conclusions 

 
The inspectors identified an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3(c)(2) and 30.34(c) in 
which the licensee failed to seek a license amendment for possession of discrete 
sources of Radium-226 within six months from the EPAct waiver expiration date of 
August 7, 2009, and subsequently failed confine his possession and use of byproduct 
material to the locations and purposes authorized in the license.  The inspectors also 
identified a violation of 10 CFR 20.1101(c) in which the licensee failed to periodically (at 
least annually) review the radiation protection program content and implementation. 

 
3 Security of Portable Gauges 

 
3.1 Inspection Scope 
 

The inspectors observed the licensee’s method of securing portable gauges in storage 
and in transport.   

 
3.2 Observations and Findings 
 

The licensee stored all five of their portable gauges in a garden shed located in the yard 
directly behind the main office.  The yard was not controlled (there were no physical 
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barriers in place on the east side of the yard), nor was it under the constant surveillance 
of the licensee.  The door to the shed was secured with a single padlock.   
 
Inside the shed, the Troxler gauge was secured within its transport case by means of a 
padlock on each of the two case lid hasps.  The case itself was further secured by a 
chain, looped through the case’s side handle and padlocked to an eye bolt installed in a 
shed stud.  The chain and two padlocks remained with the case when the Troxler gauge 
was transported to a temporary job site.  An additional chain in the company’s pickup 
truck provided a second physical barrier to unauthorized removal of the gauge case 
while in transport. 
 
The four Seaman gauges, however, were not secured by a second physical barrier 
within the shed.  None of the gauge case lids were locked closed, nor were any of the 
cases otherwise secured to the shed itself.   
 
Title 10 CFR Part 30.34(i) requires that each portable gauge licensee use a minimum of 
two independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges 
from unauthorized removal, whenever portable gauges are not under the control and 
constant surveillance of the licensee.  The licensee’s failure to use a minimum of two 
independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure the Seaman gauges 
from unauthorized removal is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i). 
 
The inspectors determined that the root cause of this apparent violation was the 
licensee’s failure to recognize that the Seaman gauges containing Radium-226 were 
subject to NRC rules and requirements, including 10 CFR 30.34(i). 

 
The licensee implemented corrective actions to prevent a similar violation.  On 
January 16, 2013, the licensee installed a second padlocked hasp on the shed door to 
provide a second independent physical control for the Seaman gauges. 
 

3.3  Conclusions  
 

The inspectors identified an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.34(i) in which the licensee 
failed to use a minimum of two independent physical controls that form tangible barriers 
to secure portable gauges from unauthorized removal, whenever portable gauges are 
not under the control and constant surveillance of the licensee.   
 

4 Control of Exposure to Radiation 
 

4.1 Inspection Scope 
 

The inspectors conducted independent and confirmatory surveys of the licensee’s 
premises   

 
4.2 Observations and Findings 
 

The inspectors conducted an independent survey of the area surrounding the storage 
shed in which the gauges were located, using an UltraRadiac Model MRAD213 
calibrated on October 16, 2012.  The inspectors considered the area as unrestricted, 
because there were no physical barriers on the east side of the yard to restrict access by 
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members of the public.  Within approximatly one foot the southeast corner of exterior 
wall of the storage shed (the corner of the shed in which three of the four Seaman 
gauges were stacked), the inspector’s survey instrument indicated a radiation field of 
approximately 0.0045 rem per hour.   
 
Title 10 CFR Part 20.1301(a)(2) requires, in part, that licensees conduct operations 
so that the dose in any unrestricted area from external sources does not exceed 
0.002 rem in any one hour.  The failure to conduct operations so that the dose rate does 
not exceed 0.002 rem in any one hour is an apparent violation of CFR 20.1301(a)(2). 
 
The inspectors determined that the root cause of this apparent violation was the 
licensee’s failure to recognize that the Seaman gauges containing Radium-226 were 
subject to NRC rules and requirements, including 10 CFR 20.1301(a)(2). 
 
The licensee implemented corrective actions to prevent a similar violation.  The licensee 
moved three of the Seaman gauges from the corner of the shed to the center.  This 
reduced dose rates to about 0.0005 rem per hour on all exterior sides of the shed. 
 

4.3  Conclusions  
 

The inspectors identified an apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1301(a)(2) in which the 
licensee failed to conduct operations so that the dose rate in any unrestricted area from 
external sources does not exceed 0.002 rem in any one hour. 

 
5  Exit Meeting Summary 
 

The NRC inspector presented preliminary inspection findings following the onsite 
inspection on January 16, 2013.  The licensee did not identify any documents or 
processes reviewed by the inspectors as proprietary.  A final telephonic exit meeting was 
conducted on April 1, 2013.  The licensee acknowledged the findings presented. 

 
 

PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONNEL CONTACTED 
 
James Dillingham, Radiation Safety Officer 
Harold Brower, Senior Technician 
* Holly Mulherin, President 
 
* Attended final exit meeting on April 1, 2013  
 
 

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED 
 
87124: Fixed and Portable Gauge Programs  

  
 
 


